Yakov and Partners × & CENTRAL UNIVERSITY

Staying ahead of the curve: towards the banking of the future

Ilya Ivaninsky, Dmitri Angarov, Maxim Bolotskikh, Sergey Panfilov, Andrey Strogonov, Daniil Kopylov, Sergey Kuznetsov

Moscow, 2024



Table of Contents

Introduction	4
How are products affected by evolving banking systems?	7
Democratization of banking products	7
"Invisible" banks	12
Active role of the regulator	16
Evolution of banking systems: stages, transition, and how to prepare for it	21
Levels of banking system maturity: from basic banking to the banking of the future	23
What is gained by moving from one level to the next?	25
How to prepare for the transition	27
Conclusion	29
Study methodology	31
Notes	33

Source: open sources, analysis by Yakov and Partners

USD bn p.a.

is the potential impact of the evolution of the BRICS+ and CIS banking systems from their current state to the banking of the future

1772

1111

Introduction

In 1958, 60,000 residents of Fresno, California, received envelopes in the mail from Bank of America. Inside was a rectangular piece of plastic and a letter informing them that they were the first owners of a new financial product – credit cards. The joy of having a new product was quickly replaced by growing irritation when it became clear that the process of paying for most purchases with the card took up to 20 minutes.

> To date, the US remains the only country where bank cheques account for 5% of non-cash payments.¹ This fiasco was how one of the most successful brands in the fintech market, Visa, began its ascent. This example shows how far payment systems and banks have come over the past decades, how much they have changed the everyday consumer experience and how much they have influenced the development of economies in most countries.

Banks are the circulatory system of the economy and an engine of its development: a 10% increase in balance sheet liquidity² leads to long-term GDP per capita growth of 1.12%.³ Banks use advanced technologies such as blockchain, and the impact of AI is greater than in other industries.⁴ Yet it was problems with banks that triggered deep economic downturns, such as the Great Depression of the 1920s and 1930s and the financial crisis of 2007–2008. Governments are therefore paying particular attention to the activities of financial institutions.

Corporate banking (B2B) accounts for about 70%⁵ of banking assets and payments, but retail banking (B2C) is often the driver of change: it has lower barriers to innovation and higher margins. Today, retail banking is being transformed in three key areas: the democratization of services, the development of "invisible" banking, and greater involvement of regulators.

Today, access to banking products has expanded significantly. The number of banking services is also increasing: a retail bank customer now uses an average of six financial services.⁶ At the same time, in the past year, six out of ten consumers looking for financial services switched to a new bank or other provider, suggesting that the market is becoming more competitive.⁷

Banks themselves are becoming "invisible" to customers: new convenient services are being developed, financial products are being integrated into consumers' daily lives, and financial transactions are becoming more convenient.

Every day, regulators and other government agencies become more active in influencing the customer experience and building the infrastructure to improve it, implementing open finance, real-time payment systems (RTP), central bank digital currencies (CBDCs), and other initiatives.

Banking systems in different countries develop unevenly and are at different levels of maturity. This process is influenced by both regional history and the introduction of new technologies. For example, many countries with widespread Internet access and a welldeveloped bank card network use NFC technologies for contactless payments. In Southeast Asia, however, QR code payments have ousted NFC, as the region had a limited network of card acceptance, and banking services were available to few people. The analysis of national banking systems makes it possible to define the direction of their future development and to help market participants prepare for the transition to the next stage.

Retail (B2C) is often the driver of change: it has lower barriers to innovation and higher margins We have analyzed the banking systems of 31 countries, including individual states, members of the BRICS+, the G20, and two members of the CIS, and have identified five levels of their maturity:



The transition of the banking system from one level to the next increases the return on equity (ROE) by 2.5 to 3 percentage points on average The transition of the banking system from one level to the next increases the return on equity (ROE) by an average of 2.5–3 p.p. Thus, as the BRICS+ and CIS countries move to a new level, we can expect an increase of USD 20 billion p.a. in the total revenues of their banking systems. If all the BRICS+ and CIS countries reach the level of ecosystem banking currently achieved by Russia and China, the annual impact could be up to USD 39 billion. And the transition of the BRICS+ and CIS countries from ecosystem banking to the banking of the future could bring another USD 42 billion p.a. to the banking systems of these countries and their members. Thus, the potential impact of moving from the current state of the BRICS+ and CIS banking systems to the banking of the future could be up to USD 81 billion p.a.



How are products affected by evolving banking systems?

It is important to note that the transition of the banking system from one level to the next does not happen by itself, but is driven by three main trends: the democratization of products, the development of "invisible" banks, and the strengthening of the role of regulators. The impact of each of these trends varies from market to market. However, banking and financial services are becoming increasingly cross-border, so the above trends are universal and unlikely to lose their relevance in the near future.

Democratization of banking products

It may seem unbelievable today, but half a century ago, women in the United States, one of the most developed countries in the world, were not allowed to use banking services without the consent of their husbands. It was not until 1974 that the Equal Credit Opportunity Act was passed, allowing them to open accounts and use credit cards on their own. This is an example of how democratization helps to increase the availability of banking services and thus the number of bank customers. And examples like this are becoming more common every year.

Over the past 6 years, the proportion of the world's population with access to banking services has risen from 68% to 76%.⁸ At the same time, the share of cash in circulation has fallen from 32% to 16%,⁹ while credit penetration in Brazil, for example, has risen from 58% to 78%.¹⁰ Democratization is now increasing the number of banking customers and products, and is generally helping to create new points of economic growth and improvements in health care, public infrastructure, agriculture, and manufacturing, where limited access to financial instruments used to make it impossible to escape the poverty trap.¹¹

Source: open sources, analysis by Yakov and Partners

6

F11702239

From 32% to 16%

19/11/21

THE CERTAIN PERSONNELT

date 1000 mills

decreased the proportion of cash in circulation over the past 6 years



Population covered by banking services, % of population

Lending

Lending is the main source of income for banks (about 40%)¹² and a powerful tool for business development. Democratization increases the availability of credit, especially to customers whose creditworthiness was previously difficult to assess.

A prime example is the case of Asian countries such as Indonesia and Vietnam. There, microfinance institutions (MFIs) using data from alternative sources (mobile operators, social networks, or mobile applications) are growing their loan portfolios by 20% per year, while bank assets are growing by 13%.^{13 14}

This system is not unique to Asia. As recently as 8–10 years ago, start-ups that assessed the risk of borrowers with no credit history were growing rapidly in the US. Large Russian banks are developing lending to low-income customers, expanding their footprint in small towns, and opening MFIs. But unlike in countries where credit was not available to new borrowers, Russia's large banks are taking market share from small banks and independent MFIs. MFIs have made credit available to those who were unable to access it before. While the increased availability of credit is a positive development,¹⁵ challenges remain. First, loans to low-income customers are more expensive due to high risks and servicing costs, as MFIs lack information about the borrower and access to cheap funding. At the same time, low-income customers are among the most vulnerable groups of the population, which increases the risk of manipulation by financial institutions.

However, with the development of the open finance model, regulation, and increased knowledge of the customer, it will be possible to more accurately assess credit risk and protect customers. This will allow both MFIs and small regional banks to reduce the cost of credit for borrowers. In Russia, the impact of the open finance model could be up to RUB 300 billion p.a.¹⁶

Savings and investments

Savings and investments now account for 25% and 17% of bank revenues, respectively.¹⁷ These products build long-term confidence in the future: having even modest savings for a rainy day makes low- and middle-income households much less vulnerable to financial shocks.¹⁸ Large banks and asset managers used to have a monopoly on savings management, working mainly with wealthy clients, but technology has changed the game.¹⁹

Applications such as Robinhood, TradingView, or T-Investments have made investing much easier. For example, individuals accounted for 40% of the US stock market turnover by 2021,²⁰ or twice the share they had represented 10 years earlier. Modern services offer not only access to the stock market and trading tools, but also analytics, social networking, copy trading strategies, and other services, allowing some brokers to attract more than half of their country's retail investors.²¹

The advent of robo-advisors has made intelligent portfolio selection available to most clients. This is particularly beneficial for banks: by creating their own robo-advisors, they save on portfolio managers. Independent robo-advisory players manage relatively small portfolios (for example, one of the largest in the U.S. has more than 700,000 customers with assets totaling USD 50 billion as of 2024).²² As AI tools continue to develop to automate customer communications and portfolio selection, the barrier to entry for complex investment products will continue to erode.

In Russia, the impact of using the open finance model could be up to RUB 300 billion p.a.

As AI tools continue to develop to help automate customer communications and portfolio selection, the barrier to entry for complex investment products will continue to erode However, there are still many unresolved challenges to the democratization of investing. These include dramatic market fluctuations caused by retail investor transactions that border on manipulation and cause other market participants to lose their savings.²³ This was the case when GameStop's stock price rose 2,000% in a matter of weeks.²⁴ Another example is the inflation and collapse of the "meme stock" bubble during the pandemic.²⁵

Payments and transfers

The number of cashless payments has quadrupled over the past decade In the past decade alone, the number of non-cash payments has quadrupled.²⁶ And while payments now account for only 17% of bank revenues, they have been the top area of fintech investment over the past 10 years.²⁷ The convenience of cashless payments is the most important factor in choosing a bank or non-bank financial services provider.²⁸

The democratization of payments is first and foremost about allowing customers to make payments for free. This was started 15 years ago by fintech companies such as PayPal. Today, banks are following suit.²⁹ Many of them offer free packages of services (including debit card issuance and maintenance) when certain conditions are met, such as a certain number of transactions. And thanks to RTP systems (equivalent to the Fast Payments System in Russia), the creation of which is often led by regulators, in India, China, Switzerland, and many other countries, transfers between and within banks have become free and just as convenient.

Cashless payment methods in the B2C segment depend on the solutions offered by B2B customers, especially in the retail sector. A key example of democratization is QR code payments. In a number of countries, especially in Asia, the QR code system has almost completely replaced cards. Since the share of cash in payments is high in many Asian countries (41% in Japan, 38% in Indonesia, and 44% in the Philippines),³⁰ it is QR code technology that will be the source of growth for non-cash payments.

But while fast transfers within countries are becoming the norm, international transactions are often slow and expensive. For example, transfers from Europe to Africa can take several days and cost up to 12% of the amount transferred.³¹ These conditions particularly affect poor countries.³² Blockchain-based technologies can address these challenges, but their implementation requires coordinated action by regulators. Therefore, it will take time for these plans to materialize.

"Invisible" banks

Examples of "invisible" banking in different industries

Retail

A cashierless store. Purchases are automatically tallied and the total amount is deducted from the customer's account



amazon go

Taxi A linked card is automatically charged for the trip



Yandex Go

RRIOTI



Travel

Automated booking, check-in, and payment for accommodations and ancillary services



62% of millennials believe the service is more important than the bank, and 45% believe they do not need a bank at all Another important recent trend is the rapid development of "invisible" banking. Today, customers do not need banks per se, but rather the services they provide: 62% of millennials believe that the service is more important than the bank, and 45% say they do not need a bank at all.³³ The better a bank works, the less visible it is.

Bankers themselves recognize this. According to the CEO of DBS, "the idea is to bring banking services into everyday life and make them invisible".³⁴ A car pays for parking itself, and a loan in a store is issued almost instantly. The consumer does not want to know what is going on behind the scenes, the main thing is to have easy access to financial services.

"Invisibility" is created by the development of bank-as-a-service (BaaS) solutions. 42% of the countries surveyed operate ecosystems that include banking services, but in only 3% of the countries do they dominate the market. Such ecosystems were created by banks in only one in ten countries; what's more, few large systems were created by banks, such as Sber in Russia or Kaspi in Kazakhstan. More often, ecosystems are launched by tech giants, which have the advantage of a huge customer base. By creating ecosystems, tech companies expect to capitalize on them, not least through banks. For example, Apple offers cards, a service for installment purchases, and deposits,³⁵ while Uber integrates a payment function into its superapp.³⁶

We do not expect banks to disappear in the future. However, the impact of bigtech on lending and payments is already visible today, and the share of tech companies' revenues from financial services has reached 11%.³⁷



Lending

In most ecosystems, credit drives revenue growth and monetizes the customer base. To expand the customer base, banks are launching non-core e-commerce businesses. The most sought-after type of credit is installment loan. Buy now, pay later (BNPL) services, which became popular in 2005 largely thanks to Swedish fintech Klarna, boomed at the start of the pandemic amid the growth of e-commerce and cashless payments. By 2020, Klarna's portfolio had more than doubled in 2 years.³⁸

From 2019 to 2023, the share of BNPL sales tripled to reach 5%,³⁹ prompting some experts to doubt the future of credit cards,⁴⁰ especially since the credit card portfolio has stopped growing.

However, as early as 2021, the rapid rise of BNPL fintechs was followed by the collapse of their capitalization after regulation of such services was tightened, effectively equating them with loans. The challenge of embedded lending (i.e., embedded in a non-banking service) is low profitability. Monetization is at the expense of traditional, or "heavy", lending products that require capital, forcing ecosystems to sell portfolios to those banks that have it.

Payments

For users of some ecosystems, payments and transfers have already become "invisible". In China, up to 96% of mobile payments bypass banks thanks to the Alibaba and Tencent ecosystems, which have introduced seamless payments through QR codes and P2P transfers via messengers. Payments and transfers now serve as the ecosystem's source of user data for lending, incentivizing consumers to interact more frequently with their services.

Share of BNPL sales tripled from 2019 to 2023 The evolution of payments and other banking services and their seamless integration into ecosystems will continue, and ecosystems themselves will lead the way The evolution of payments and other banking services and their seamless integration into ecosystems will continue, and ecosystems themselves will lead the way, as is the case in Russia, where all major ecosystems are developing their own fintech. For example, in the first five months of 2024, banks of Ozon and Yandex ecosystems showed the highest growth in deposits from individuals (more than double).⁴¹ Voice assistants for ordering products have emerged; in 2023, Sber launched a service of payment with a smile; it is now possible to scan and pay for goods through apps rather than at store checkouts – these are just some examples of how the concept of "invisible" payments is evolving in retail.

In the banking sector, however, low investment in innovation is the main obstacle to the deployment of "invisible" payments and transfers. Today, banks spend 10 times less on R&D than technology companies, or 1–2% of the revenues versus 10–20%.⁴² If banks do not increase their investment in the development of new technologies, there is a risk that their customers will migrate to the ecosystems of technology players, leading to a flight of deposits and a consequent decline in the profitability of the banking business.





Active role of the regulator

Open finance, RTP and CBDC systems are transforming banking services and blurring traditional boundaries The third major trend is the ever-increasing role of the regulator. Prompted by the growing democratization of banking products, government authorities are increasingly focused on ensuring that the interests of end-users are taken into account, while maintaining the necessary level of control over the flow of funds to prevent their illicit use. Open finance, RTP and CBDC systems not only influence the development of banking services, but also blur the traditional boundaries between banks and, to some extent, between banks and the central bank. Regulators encourage competition in the market, which increases the availability of existing financial products and pushes banks to develop new services.



Lending

Large banks have an important advantage over smaller banks: they have more data on borrowers, so their lending decisions are more accurate. This allows them to offer better terms and attract lower-risk customers.

Open finance reduces the advantage of large banks over small banks (see "Is it always good to be open?"⁴³ for more details). This model allows smaller players to access data from large banks where the customer has accounts (with the customer's consent). This has long been the case in the UK and Australia, which introduced the open finance concept in 2016–2018 and are now world leaders in this area. Russia plans to introduce the open finance model in 2025, and the impact could reach RUB 300 billion p.a.

Payments

As cashless payments have gained popularity, their convenience is becoming an increasingly important factor in choosing a bank. Fintech companies, which started to develop instant transfer services, played no small role in this. In order not to lose customers, banks created convenient phone number transfer services, further strengthening their dominant position. Regulators responded with RTP systems. Now operating in more than 100 countries,⁴⁴ including all the G20 countries, they allow instant transfers between consumers' bank accounts using simple identifiers such as a phone number.

Large banks reacted negatively, small banks positively, but eventually connection to RTP became mandatory. As the barriers to transferring money between banks were removed, the convenience factor became even more important in the competition. Several countries (Russia, India, Singapore, and Australia) are developing RTP not only for consumers, but also for businesses. Making such transfers between organizations is more difficult: compliance is essential, which makes it impossible to credit funds instantly. In the future, regulators will address this problem by creating "Know Your Customer" services, which will analyze the risk of companies' involvement in suspicious transactions and share this information with banks. The Central Bank of Russia is also developing such a platform which already has data on 7 million legal entities and individual entrepreneurs.⁴⁵

Central bank digital currencies

More than 130 countries are developing and testing CBDCs Today, more than 130 countries are developing or testing blockchainbased CBDCs⁴⁶ (see our article "Who will benefit from digital rubles?").⁴⁷ CBDCs have one key difference from traditional money as they are stored in customer accounts with the central bank rather than conventional retail banks. This means the central bank takes over the payment function and "pulls away" some bank funds and products, such as acquiring. CBDCs have great potential; in this country, for example, the impact could reach RUB 328 billion p.a.

For now, however, transactions with CBDCs are still being piloted in various countries around the world, and their penetration is extremely low. In China, for example, the digital yuan accounts for less than 0.2% of payments.⁴⁸ In addition, many market players are still skeptical about CBDCs, believing that there are no needs today that require the use of such currencies.⁴⁹ Nevertheless, CBDCs could improve cross-border transfers and make international payments faster and cheaper.



Evolution of banking systems: stages, transition, and how to prepare for it

As noted above, the three trends under review – democratization, development of "invisible" banks, and strengthening of the regulator's role – have different implications for banking systems at different stages of evolution.

In countries where financial services are still inaccessible to the majority of the population, banks' growth is extensive. Development is driven primarily by democratization and increased access to financial services. As the number of people covered by banking services grows, competition intensifies. In the battle for customer loyalty, banks are beginning to create their own ecosystems. Their main competitive advantage is the development of embedded ("invisible") financial services.

The introduction of new financial technologies and services with the support of the central bank is more successful in countries with a developed banking system. In countries where banks are in the first two stages of evolution, such experiments fail: the project to introduce CBDCs in Nigeria covered only 0.5% of the population,⁵⁰ while the use of the open finance model in the EU is yet to reach the desired level.





Transition to the next level

Breakdown of countries by banking system maturity

Surveyed countries (BRICS+ and CIS)

Source: Yakov and Partners analysis

The evolution of banking systems is also influenced by the economic development of countries. For example, the BRICS+ countries, where cashless payments were introduced later, skipped the stage of using checks as a payment instrument. Kazakhstan leapfrogged the stage of highly specialized financial services and went straight to the ecosystem model. There are also opposite examples of treading water: in Germany, the EU's largest economy, the share of cash in circulation remains high at 38%. In Russia, by comparison, it is much lower at 16%.⁵¹

In total, we analyzed 31 countries, including all the BRICS+ countries, the G20, selected CIS countries, as well as Singapore and Norway. Based on the findings of the banking system analysis, we identified five levels of banking system maturity, depending on the level of customer focus and technological and infrastructure development.

Levels of banking system maturity: from basic banking to the banking of the future

Basic banking

In countries with basic banking, the majority of financial services are provided through physical channels. Half of the population (55%) has a bank account. The share of cash in transactions is high at 62%. There are many alternative service providers in the market, including MFIs and non-bank payment services. The quality of service of traditional banks is lower than that of fintechs: the average score of bank apps is 3.88 out of 5, while that of fintech apps is 3.92 out of 5. Central banks are experimenting with CBDCs, as in Nigeria, but this effort is not yielding results. Today, 17% of the countries surveyed belong to this group: in addition to Nigeria, they include Egypt, Ghana, Kenya, and Ethiopia. The average ROE of their banking systems is also 17%.

Developing banking

Countries in this group are expanding their financial infrastructure, the number of players in the market, and the percentage of the population covered by banking services. At the same time, competition is intensifying, causing bank rates to fall and ROE to drop to 9%. The share of cash in transactions is 26%. The average score of banking apps is 0.2 points higher than in the previous group – 4.1 out of 5. The growth is driven by an increasing number and better quality of services. Approximately 33% of the countries surveyed are at this level today, particularly Germany, Indonesia, Italy, Norway, UAE, Saudi Arabia, Uzbekistan, and France.

3

Digital banking

In this group of countries, banking services in digital channels have advanced to a higher level. This has contributed to the widespread adoption of banking services. Large banks and fintechs alike are driving digitalization. The latter find shortcomings in the former and try to poach their customers with higher quality services, which motivates traditional banks to continuously improve their service levels. Banks have already managed to build an impressive customer base, which is why ROE in these countries is higher at 12%. Service quality is also reflected in the banking app score of 4.4 out of 5. 30% of the countries surveyed are at this level, including Brazil, the UK, Spain, Canada, Mexico, Singapore, Spain, the US, and Turkey.

4

Ecosystem banking

The countries in this group have leapfrogged several levels in a short period of time – 10–20 years – and quickly moved from beginners to leaders in banking services. Banking penetration and customer acquisition costs are high. To win the loyalty of the most demanding customers, banks compete on the basis of service quality, which has become a commodity in its own right and often plays a decisive role in competition.

As a result, banks are integrating with non-bank services in areas such as e-commerce, telecommunications, and travel. Banks, however, are not necessarily the ones to initiate this integration in all countries. In Russia, for example, marketplaces have started to create financial products themselves. The score for banking apps in this group is lower than in the previous one – 4.0 points out of 5.

At this stage, there is an important shift in how apps are rated. In the banking systems of the previous two levels, banks are ahead of fintechs, but here the opposite is true: fintechs and ecosystem players take the lead in the competitive race. While they were 12% behind traditional banks at the previous stage, they are already 7% ahead at this stage. Countries with ecosystem banking have the highest ROE (excluding the basic banking level) at 14% and the lowest share of cash in circulation at 19%. Today, 20% of the countries are at this level, particularly China, Russia, and Kazakhstan.

5

The banking of the future

In the future, this group will include countries where banks have started to test or introduce technologies that fundamentally change the principles of the banking system. Another characteristic of such countries is the strengthening of the regulator's role: central banks encourage and guide the development of financial systems, introduce new instruments, i.e. RTP, CBDCs, and open finance. The regulator thus promotes competition and improves customer experience.

At this stage, banking will become faster and more convenient, services and products will be easier to use: for example, a CBDC wallet will be available in all banking apps, open finance will improve the process of risk assessment and speed up loan issuance, and increased competition among banks will stimulate innovation and the emergence of new useful services. These changes will not necessarily increase banks' ROE, and in some cases may even decrease it. However, they will help to develop the market and, over time, create additional sources of income for banks.

No country has reached this stage yet, but more and more countries have the chance to do so soon. They include China, Russia, and Kazakhstan.

What is gained by moving from one level to the next?

As the banking system evolves, competition for customers intensifies. The winner in this competition is the one that provides the best customer service. Customers become more demanding in terms of service quality as a country moves up to the developing banking stage. In the transition to ecosystem banking, neobanks outperform incumbents in terms of app scores. This is because at this stage of banking system development, digital banks are better than traditional banks at meeting customers' needs for quality financial services.

ROE also increases steadily after the second stage, and its growth correlates with the growth of the digital outperformance rate. This is due to the higher ROE of neobanks: the top 10 digital banks have an average ROE of 17%⁵² versus 3 % to 15% for the banking systems of the countries in which they operate.⁵³ After the developing banking stage, the ROE of a banking system increases on average by 2.5–3.0 p.p. as it moves to each subsequent level, but this requires large investments in infrastructure, primarily digital infrastructure.

Level	Average score of banking apps	Average score of traditional banks' apps	Average score of digital banks' apps / ecosystems	Digital out- performance rate
1 Basic banking	3.9	3.88	3.92	1.01
2 Developing banking	4.0	4.08	3.23	0.79
Jigital banking	4.4	4.43	3.90	0.88
Ecosystem banking	4.0	3.81	4.05	1.07
5 The banking of the future	?	?	?	?

One exception is the transition to the banking of the future. As noted above, the adoption of technology at this stage does not always increase banks' ROE, and in some cases may even decrease it The banking systems of the BRICS+ and CIS countries today hold more than USD 5 trillion in capital. If the banking systems of all those countries were to move to the next level (excluding the transition from ecosystem banking to the banking of the future) and maintain the same amount of capital, their revenues could grow by USD 20 billion p.a. If these countries were to reach the level of ecosystem banking that Russia and China are currently at, the annual impact could be as high as USD 39 billion.

One exception is the transition to the banking of the future. As noted above, the adoption of technology at this level does not always increase banks' ROE, and in some cases may even decrease it. The latter scenario is likely if CBDCs take a significant share of retail payments, which would reduce banks' acquiring fees.

However, these same technologies will create new potential sources of revenue for banks and other market players alike. The growth of banking system revenues in the transition from ecosystem banking to the banking of the future can be estimated by analyzing two factors, the introduction of CBDCs and the development of open finance.

The introduction of a CBDC will both increase the penetration of banking services and boost banks' revenues as new types of services will emerge, such as transactions using smart contracts or supporting cross-border transfers in a CBDC. In Russia alone, CBDC introduction could generate annual revenues of USD 0.3 to 0.7 billion for banks. In the BRICS+ countries, this figure could reach USD 3 to 9 billion.

The development of open finance could generate up to USD 1.6 billion p.a. for the Russian banking system. And the development of open finance in the BRICS+ and CIS countries could increase their revenues by USD 15-33 billion p.a. Should the BRICS+ and CIS countries reach the level of ecosystem banking, the annual impact of moving from this level to the banking of the future could generate USD 18-42 billion p.a.

At the global level, digital banks and fintechs, including those that are part of ecosystems, will be the first to benefit from the increased revenues of banking systems.

By 2030, revenues of digital banks worldwide will increase by a factor of 2.5,^{54 55} with fintech revenues growing 3 times as fast as banking sector revenues.⁵⁶ The strongest competitive pressure will be felt by traditional banks, with profits hinging on the speed of their transformation and revenues projected to grow only by a factor of 1.5.⁵⁷

How to prepare for the transition

If a bank does not improve the customer experience, competitors will, poaching its customers along the way The key takeaway from our analysis of banking systems is that if a bank does not improve the customer experience, competitors will, poaching its customers along the way. At the basic banking level, the threat of competition comes from small fintechs; at the developing and digital banking levels from digital banks; and at the ecosystem banking level from technology ecosystems. The key to success is to stay ahead of the curve and offer next level services, even if this means cannibalizing existing products. After all, it is still better than losing customers.

In Africa, where most countries are still at the basic banking level and half of the 5,200 start-ups⁵⁸ are fintechs, the expected 10% growth of the financial market will come from the latter. This growth will be three times the projected increase in GDP. A logical response from large banks would be to invest in fintech startups and provide them with access to a large customer base on more favorable terms. This strategy is being pursued, for example, by bank holding company Capital One, which has already invested in more than 15 fintech companies through partnerships.⁵⁹

As the main threat to incumbents at the developing banking level comes from neobanks, launching digital services or an in-house digital bank, possibly under a separate brand, could help mitigate the risks. This is what happened in the UAE, for example. The country was still at the developing banking stage in 2021, yet managed to skip over to the digital banking level by 2023. The new Wio Bank, backed by the country's largest bank, FAB, became profitable and one of the fastest growing digital banks in the world in 2023.⁶⁰ Traditional local banks have also established digital banking subsidiaries to replicate its success, with Mashreq launching Mashreq Neo and ENBD establishing Liv Bank.

Countries at the level of digital banking should prepare for the emergence of ecosystems. Banks can become their founders and investors, as happened in Russia and Kazakhstan. Partnerships with ecosystems, especially in e-commerce, will not only bring loyal audiences, but also expand the knowledge base about customers. This will increase the level of service personalization, banks' customer focus, and customer engagement, as well as profitability. New solutions are being introduced and evolving rapidly, so it is necessary to prepare for the emergence of ecosystems in all markets. Ecosystems, however, should be launched with caution, as they do not always succeed. In Uzbekistan, for instance, SQB's JOYDA ecosystem did not take off, while Uzum continues to grow steadily. None of the banking systems analyzed have yet reached the level of the banking of the future, but it would be worthwhile to prepare for this stage None of the banking systems analyzed have yet reached the level of the banking of the future, but it would be worthwhile to prepare for this stage. This also applies to banks in those countries where ecosystem banking prevails. Unlike banks, regulators are open about their plans for future technologies. Many central banks publish their development strategies for the next 5–10 years and warn of upcoming changes. It makes sense for banks to prepare in advance for the introduction of new technologies rather than try to undermine the regulator's projects. An example of staying ahead of the curve is the partnership between Sber and T-Bank, Russia's largest retail banks, which announced an integration to share data on customers with their consent more than a year before the launch of the open finance model.⁶¹



Conclusion

The transition to the ecosystem banking level will generate up to USD 39 billion p.a. for the BRICS+ and CIS countries

Banking systems in the countries surveyed could generate up to USD 42 billon p.a. in additional revenues by moving from ecosystem banking to the banking of the future Banks have come a long way in recent decades, innovating, improving financial services, and making them more accessible to consumers.

The transition to ecosystem banking could potentially add up to USD 39 billion p.a. to the BRICS+ and CIS banking systems. To achieve this, banks need to improve financial products that can be integrated into customers' daily experience. The faster the transformation, the better the results. At the same time, it is important for banks to recognize that today they are competing not only with each other, but also with ecosystems that are becoming increasingly prominent players in the financial services market.

As banks and other market players transition to the banking of the future, they will gain additional revenue streams as regulators actively encourage the use of CBDCs and the development of the open finance model. In Russia alone, the launch of a CBDC could generate between USD 0.3 and 0.7 billion p.a. for banks, with a further USD 1.6 billion p.a. added to revenues through the development of the open finance model. Moving from ecosystem banking to the banking of the future in the BRICS+ and CIS banking systems could generate an incremental revenue stream estimated at up to USD 42 billion p.a.

These processes will unfold against the backdrop of an ever-increasing role for regulators, and central banks will need to address three major challenges. First, they will need to revise compliance requirements, e.g., to develop mechanisms for remote identification and real-time verification of the legality of payments and transfers, including crossborder ones. This will allow services to be provided remotely and promptly.

Second, central banks need to stay ahead of the curve when it comes to regulating new technologies and business models, establishing transparent rules of the game and ensuring predictability as the sector increases investment. The focus should be on ecosystems where the core business is far removed from banking, as well as on AI and blockchain technologies. Clearly, one of the constraints to the development of both the ecosystems themselves and their value proposition will be the issue of personal data protection and processing. So far, this issue remains largely a gray area, and to avoid potential complaints, market players are limiting the capabilities of their technological and business solutions, and thus the degree of personalization that lies at the heart of the banking of the future. Third, regulators will need to manage the development of the technology infrastructure and define requirements for it. This process will improve customer satisfaction, increase bank profits, and ensure that financial transactions are properly controlled to guarantee their security.

It is already clear that the potential for improvement is far from exhausted. By moving to the next levels of banking system maturity, countries can significantly improve the living standards of their people and develop their economies. It has been shown that a 10% increase in balance sheet liquidity⁶² translates into a 1.12% increase in GDP per capita⁶³ in the long run. In this context, it is important for the sector and the regulator to synchronize their efforts, as competition in banking and finance has long been not only between individual institutions, but also between entire countries.

Study methodology

The study analyzed the banking systems of 31 countries.

Each banking system was analyzed based on two dimensions, customer centricity and level of infrastructure and technology development.

We determined a country's level of banking system development based on the availability and penetration of services and technologies that impact the customer experience and market infrastructure. Most parameters received a qualitative score (low, medium, or high) based on data from verifiable open sources selected using a consistent methodology.

Indicators such as the share of users of mobile banking apps and MAU/DAU were not used in the study because it is impossible to measure them consistently.

To assess the level of customer centricity, we analyzed three blocks of technologies and products that affect the quality of user experience when using banking services:

- C2B cashless payments: use of contactless technologies (NFC, QR codes, biometrics).
- B2C ecosystems: availability of large ecosystems with integrated financial services.
- Open finance: the ability of bank customers to give third parties access to their banking data.

To determine the level of infrastructure and technology development, we assessed the degree of technological autonomy of banking systems and payment infrastructures. For this purpose, three main types of systems were analyzed:

- Proprietary "card rails": development and deployment of local payment systems.
- Fast Payment System (FPS/RTP): availability of a system for instant payments and transfers using an identifier, such as a phone number.
- Platform for the creation and development of a CBDC: development of a national platform for the digital currency issuance and management.

Based on the level of development of the above six characteristics, we identified five stages in the evolution of national banking systems:

- 1. Basic banking.
- 2. Developing banking.
- 3. Digital banking.
- 4. Ecosystem banking.
- 5. The banking of the future.

In addition, we evaluated the performance of each banking system based on the following two parameters:

- 1. ROE as a gauge of banks' financial performance.
- 2. Customer service quality in digital channels measured by app store ratings.

The analysis compared traditional banks with neobanks, digital banks, fintech companies, and alternative financial service providers.

Notes

- 1. https://www.atlantafed.org/-/media/documents/banking/consumer-payments/research-data-reports/2023/07/14/ use-of-checks-in-selected-countries.pdf
- 2. Balance sheet liquidity growth refers to the growth in liquid liabilities and illiquid assets less illiquid liabilities, liquid assets and equity. Source: https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2015/wp15103.pdf
- 3. https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/how-banks-affect-investment-and-growth-new-evidence
- 4. https://yakov.partners/publications/ai-future/
- 5. S&P and country CBs, 2022-2024
- 6. https://www.accenture.com/content/dam/accenture/final/industry/banking/document/Accenture-Banking-Consumer-Study.pdf
- 7. https://www.accenture.com/content/dam/accenture/final/industry/banking/document/Accenture-Banking-Consumer-Study.pdf
- 8. https://www.santander.com/en/stories/financial-inclusion-progress
- 9. World Bank
- 10. https://static.poder360.com.br/2017/05/release_peic_abril_2017-rev.pdf
- 11. https://www.hup.harvard.edu/file/feeds/PDF/9780674987227_sample.pdf
- 12. https://web-assets.bcg.com/47/b0/0591daa24bf5a407385779fa374e/bcg-global-retail-banking-2022-sense-and-sustainability-sep-2022.pdf
- 13. https://www.adb.org/features/microfinance-asia-and-pacific-12-things-know
- 14. https://www.ceicdata.com/en/indicator/india/credit-to-households
- 15. https://www.bis.org/statistics/payment_stats/commentary2301.pdf
- 16. https://yakovpartners.ru/publications/is-it-always-good-to-be-open/
- 17. https://web-assets.bcg.com/47/b0/0591daa24bf5a407385779fa374e/bcg-global-retail-banking-2022-sense-and-sustainability-sep-2022.pdf
- 18. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8528660/
- 19. https://web-assets.bcg.com/47/b0/0591daa24bf5a407385779fa374e/bcg-global-retail-banking-2022-sense-and-sustainability-sep-2022.pdf
- 20. https://www.economist.com/finance-and-economics/2021/08/21/just-how-mighty-are-active-retail-traders
- 21. https://www.tinkoff.ru/invest/social/profile/Tinka/44256969-e43c-4cb8-a821-63d6019d80e3/
- 22. https://www.barrons.com/advisor/articles/wealthfront-aum-robo-advisor-33efa551
- 23. https://www.economist.com/finance-and-economics/2021/08/21/just-how-mighty-are-active-retail-traders
- 24. https://lawforbusiness.usc.edu/the-effects-of-the-gamestop-market-disruption/
- 25. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-05-10/meme-stock-euphoria-goes-bust-as-group-slumps-to-all-time-low
- 26. https://www.statista.com/statistics/265767/number-of-cashless-transactions-worldwide-by-region/
- 27. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1447294/investments-into-fintech-companies-globally-by-segment/
- 28. https://www.mx.com/research/what-consumers-want-from-financial-providers/
- 29. https://www.researchandmarkets.com/report/debit-cards
- 30. https://worldpay.globalpaymentsreport.com/en
- 31. https://remittanceprices.worldbank.org/corridor/France/Mali
- 32. https://www.un.org/osaa/news/reducing-remittance-costs-africa-path-resilient-financing-development
- 33. https://cdn.twimbit.com/uploads/2020/04/25173234/Future-of-Banking.pdf
- 34. https://cdn.twimbit.com/uploads/2020/04/25173234/Future-of-Banking.pdf
- 35. https://www.apple.com/newsroom/2024/01/apple-card-is-helping-cardholders-live-healthier-financial-lives/

- 36. https://www.quora.com/Why-did-Uber-build-an-internal-payment-system-instead-of-using-a-service-such-as-Stripefor-integrating-payments-with-its-various-lines-of-businesses
- 37. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/finance-under-pressure-how-big-tech-tighter-market-soren-azorian
- https://assets.ctfassets.net/4pxjo1vaz7xk/4YoZpojIbRX6XbEdYPVUxg/6cddf386d1d29beca3c09f3d96c28104/Klarna_ Holding_Annual_Report_2023.pdf
- 39. https://worldpay.globalpaymentsreport.com/en
- 40. https://www.kansascityfed.org/research/payments-system-research-briefings/the-rise-of-buy-now-pay-later-bankand-payment-network-perspectives-and-regulatory-considerations/
- 41. https://www.banki.ru/news/lenta/?id=11004659
- 42. https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/tr/pdf/2017/03/eve-invisible-bank.pdf
- 43. https://yakovpartners.ru/publications/is-it-always-good-to-be-open/
- 44. https://cbr.ru/content/document/file/161600/analytical_report_20240605.pdf
- 45. https://www.cbr.ru/counteraction_m_ter/platform_zsk/
- 46. https://cbdctracker.org/
- 47. https://yakovpartners.ru/publications/cbdc/
- 48. https://madeinchinajournal.com/2023/11/27/the-digital-yuan-purpose-progress-and-politics/0
- 49. https://www.corporatecomplianceinsights.com/central-banks-digital-currency-cbdc/
- 50. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-10-25/shunned-digital-currency-looks-for-street-credibility-innigeria
- 51. https://www.rbc.ru/finances/12/07/2024/668e931b9a7947aa62083c08
- 52. https://tabinsights.com/article/profitability-of-digital-only-banks-improving-nearly-half-of-the-top-100-reported-profits
- 53. S&P, 2023
- 54. https://web-assets.bcg.com/69/51/f9ce8b47419fb0bb9aeb50a77ee6/bcg-qed-global-fintech-report-2023-reimagining-the-future-of-finance-may-2023.pdf
- 55. https://explodingtopics.com/blog/fintech-market
- 56. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/financial-services/our-insights/fintechs-a-new-paradigm-of-growth
- 57. https://www.statista.com/outlook/fmo/banking/worldwide-net-interest-income
- 58. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/financial-services/our-insights/fintech-in-africa-the-end-of-the-beginning
- 59. https://ventionteams.com/blog/fintech-acquisitions-by-banks
- 60. https://gulfnews.com/business/banking/uaes-wio-becomes-one-of-fastest-neo-banks-globally-to-hit-a-profit-1.1716359623685
- 61. https://www.tinkoff.ru/about/news/04062024-sber-and-tinkoff-first-in-russia-provide-clients-opportunity-mergeinfo-their-accounts-each-others-mobile-applications/
- 62. Balance sheet liquidity growth refers to the growth in liquid liabilities and illiquid assets less illiquid liabilities, liquid assets and equity. Source: https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2015/wp15103.pdf
- 63. https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/how-banks-affect-investment-and-growth-new-evidence

All information contained in this document (hereinafter referred to as the "Study" or "Study Materials") is intended only for private informational noncommercial purposes and does not constitute professional advice or recommendations. Neither the information contained in the Study nor its use by any party shall create a contract, agreement, or other relationship between Yakov and Partners and any party that has received and is reviewing the Study Materials and/ or any information contained in the Study. Yakov and Partners reserves the right to amend the information contained in the Study but assumes no obligation to update such information after the date indicated herein, notwithstanding that the information may become obsolete, inaccurate, or incomplete. Yakov and Partners gives no promise or guarantee regarding the accuracy, completeness, sufficiency, timeliness, or relevance of the information contained in the Study. Yakov and Partners has not carried out an independent verification of the data and assumptions used in the Study. Changes to the input data or assumptions could impact the analysis and conclusions presented in the Study. Yakov and Partners does not provide legal, statutory, accounting, financial, tax, or regulatory advice. Any party that has received and reviewed the Study Materials and/or any information contained in the Study bears liability for the receipt of independent advice in the aforementioned areas.

Advice in the aforementioned areas may impact the analysis and conclusions presented in the Study. Nothing in the Study is intended as a recommendation to perform actions that could lead to a violation of any applicable law. Yakov and Partners does not provide opinions on the fairness or valuation of market transactions, and the Study Materials should not be relied upon or construed as such.

Study Materials may contain forward-looking data (including, but not limited to, market, financial, and statistical data), the feasibility of which in the future is not assured and which are therefore associated with some difficult-to-predict risks and uncertainties. Actual future results and trends may differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements due to a variety of different factors. If any person relies on the information contained in the Study Materials, they do so solely at their own risk. No guaranteed property rights can be derived from any type of information provided in the Study.

To the maximum extent permitted by law (and except as otherwise agreed to in writing by Yakov and Partners), Yakov and Partners assumes no liability for any damages whatsoever that may be caused in any form to any person by the use, incompleteness, incorrectness, or irrelevance of any information contained in the Study. The Study Materials may not, in whole or in part, be distributed, copied or transferred to any person without the prior written consent of Yakov and Partners. The Study Materials are incomplete without an accompanying commentary and may not be relied upon as a separate document. Any party that has received and reviewed the Study Materials and/or any information contained in the Study hereby waives any rights and claims that it may have at any time against Yakov and Partners in respect of the Study, the information contained in the Study, or other related Study Materials, conclusions, or recommendations, including their accuracy and completeness. The product names, company logos, and trademarks indicated in this document are protected by law. The receipt and review of this document shall be deemed consent to everything set out above.

Staying ahead of the curve: towards the banking of the future

Production team:

Ilya Ivaninsky, Director of the Center for Business Education and Analytics at Central University, Expert Partner, Yakov and Partners

Dmitri Angarov, Partner, Yakov and Partners

Maxim Bolotskikh, Director, Yakov and Partners

Sergey Panfilov, Deputy Director of the Center for Business Education and Analytics at Central University

Andrey Strogonov, Senior Analyst, Yakov and Partners

Daniil Kopylov, Analyst at Central University

Nikita Dral, Designer, Yakov and Partners Sergey Kuznetsov, Production Editor, Yakov and Partners

The Central University is an innovative institution of higher education integrating the STEM approach to learning. It was founded under the sponsorship of 40+ Russian-based organizations, including the Central Bank, the Moscow Exchange, Avito, VK, Nornickel, Rosatom, Sibur, T-Bank, YADRO, and X5 Group. Here students hone practical skills for future employment in IT and get their first job offers from industry leaders. The faculty are seasoned practitioners with employment experience at both leading Russian universities and major IT companies. In July 2023, the Central University obtained an official perennial license from the Federal Education and Science Supervision Service (Rosobrnadzor) for bachelor's and master's degree programs.

Yakov and Partners is an international consulting firm headquartered in Moscow, Russia, with offices in other BRICS countries. Committed to addressing development challenges, we work shoulder to shoulder with leaders of various industries and the public sector. Together with them, we shape turning points in the history of companies and society, striving for sustainable results on a scale extending far beyond individual businesses.

© Yakov and Partners, 2024. All rights reserved.

To contact the authors, request comments and clarifications, or check for any restrictions, please reach out to us at

media@yakovpartners.com

For more research, insights, and publications, please visit

www.yakovpartners.com



Yakov and Partners X & CENTRAL UNIVERSITY

© Yakov and Partners, 2024 All rights reserved

www.yakovpartners.com

YakovPartnersyakov.partnersyakov-partners